
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN 

MILWAUKEE DIVISION 
 

SHARON MEYER, Individually and on Behalf of 

All Others Similarly Situated, 

 

  Plaintiff, 

 vs. 

 

FINANCIAL RECOVERY SERVICES, INC.,  

 

  Defendant. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No.: 17-cv-963 
 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT  
 
 
 
Jury Trial Demanded 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

1. This class action seeks redress for collection practices that violate the Fair Debt 

Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq. (the “FDCPA”). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. The court has jurisdiction to grant the relief sought by the Plaintiff pursuant to 15 

U.S.C. § 1692k and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1337. Venue in this District is proper in that 

Defendant directed its collection efforts into the District. 

PARTIES 

 

3. Plaintiff Sharon Meyer is an individual who resides in the Eastern District of 

Wisconsin (Milwaukee County). 

4. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined in the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3), in that 

Defendant sought to collect from her, debts allegedly incurred for personal, family or household 

purposes, namely a credit card debt. 

5. Defendant Financial Recovery Services, Inc. (“FRS”) is a corporation with its 

principal place of business located at 4510 West 77th Street, Suite 200, Edina, Minnesota 55435. 
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6. FRS is engaged in the business of a collection agency, using the mails and 

telephone to collect consumer debts originally owed to others. 

7. FRS is engaged in the business of collecting debts owed to others and incurred for 

personal, family or household purposes. FRS is a debt collector as defined in 15 U.S.C. § 1692a. 

FACTS 

8. On or about April 5, 2017, FRS mailed a debt collection letter to Plaintiff 

regarding an alleged credit card debt, allegedly owed to originally owed to Citibank, N.A. and 

used only for personal, family or household purposes. A copy of the letter is attached to this 

complaint as Exhibit A. 

9. Upon information and belief, Exhibits A is a form letter, generated by computer, 

and with the information specific to Plaintiff inserted by computer. 

10. Exhibit A states the following: “Cost Balance: $0.00.” 

11. There is no explanation in the letter as to what the “Cost Balance” is. 

12. Although the amount of the “Cost Balance” in Exhibit A is $0.00, the letter 

implies that there could be some unknown charges added to the debt in future letters. See, eg. 

Tylke v. Diversified Adjustment Serv., No. 14-cv-748; 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 153281, *7 (E.D. 

Wis. Oct. 28, 2014) (“the inclusion of a collection fee, even one showing a balance of zero, could 

imply the future possibility of one.”). 

13. The unsophisticated consumer interprets references to a “cost” or a "balance" in 

collection letters, even when the amount is $0.00, as representations that the debt collector has a 

right to add costs or charges to the alleged debt, and that charges will be sought in future letters. 
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14. The unsophisticated consumer would be confused by the nebulous reference on 

FRS’s letter to “Cost Balance,” and would have no idea what those charges are, potentially could 

be, or whether they are legitimate. 

15. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e generally prohibits “any false, deceptive, or misleading 

representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt.”  

16. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2) specifically prohibits the “false representation of the 

character, amount, or legal status” of an alleged debt, or the “false representation 

of…compensation which may be lawfully received by any debt collector for the collection” of an 

alleged debt. 

17. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(5) specifically prohibits threatening “to take any action that 

cannot legally be taken or that is not intended to be taken.” 

18. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10) specifically prohibits the “use of any false representation 

or deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect any debt.” 

COUNT I -- FDCPA 

19. Plaintiff incorporates by reference as if fully set forth herein the allegations 

contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

20. FRS’s threat to collect a “Cost Balance” which is not further specified or 

explained in Exhibit A is a false, deceptive, and/or misleading representation to the 

unsophisticated consumer recipient.  

21. Exhibit A falsely represents that Defendant is lawfully entitled to collect other 

charges. 

22. Exhibit A creates a false impression as to its authorization or approval for 

collecting other charges. 
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23. An unsophisticated consumer would have no idea what a “cost balance” is or 

could be or whether it is legitimate.  

 

24. Defendant violated 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692e(2), 1692e(5), and 1692e(10). 

CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

25. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of a Class, consisting of (a) all natural 

persons in the State of Wisconsin (b) who were sent a collection letter in the form of Exhibit A to 

the complaint in this action, (c) that sought to collect an alleged debt, (d) incurred for personal, 

family or household purposes, (e) between July 11, 2016 and July 11, 2017, inclusive, (f) that 

was not returned by the postal service. 

26. The Class is so numerous that joinder is impracticable. Upon information and 

belief, there are more than 50 members of the Class. 

27. There are questions of law and fact common to the members of the class, which 

common questions predominate over any questions that affect only individual class members.  

The predominant common question is whether Exhibit A violates the FDCPA. 

28. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Class members.  All are based on 

the same factual and legal theories. 

29. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent the interests of the Class members. 

Plaintiff has retained counsel experienced in consumer credit and debt collection abuse cases. 

30. A class action is superior to other alternative methods of adjudicating this dispute.   

Individual cases are not economically feasible. 

JURY DEMAND 

31. Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that the Court enter judgment in favor of Plaintiff and 

the Class and against Defendant for: 

(a) actual damages; 

(b) statutory damages;   

(c) attorneys’ fees, litigation expenses and costs of suit; and 

(d) such other or further relief as the Court deems proper. 

Dated:  July 13, 2017 

 

  ADEMI & O’REILLY, LLP 

 

  By: s/ John D. Blythin   

  Shpetim Ademi (SBN 1026973) 

  John D. Blythin (SBN 1046105) 

  Mark A. Eldridge (SBN 1089944) 

  Denise L. Morris (SBN 1097911) 

  3620 East Layton Avenue 

  Cudahy, WI 53110 

  (414) 482-8000 

  (414) 482-8001 (fax) 

  sademi@ademilaw.com 

  jblythin@ademilaw.com 

  meldridge@ademilaw.com 

  dmorris@ademilaw.com 
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FRS062-0404-852294817-01836-1836

FINANCIAL RECOVERY SERVICES, INC.
DEPT 813 1873871617047
PO BOX 4115

P.O. 385908CONCORD CA 94524 Box
Minneapolis, MN 55438-5908

I 1111111 111111 11111 111 11111 11111E11111 LII 11111 11111 HI 11111111 1111 11111 1111 1H1 1-866-472-0312

CURRENT CREDITOR: CAVALRY SPV I, LLC
ORIGINAL CREDITOR: CITIBANK, N.A.
REGARDING: CITIBANK, NA.RETURN SERVICE REQUESTED ACCOUNT NUMBER: XXXX9456
DATE OF LAST PAYMENT: 08/03/15

April 5, 2017 CHARGE-OFF DATE: 03/14/16

IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII BALANCE ITEMIZATION
COST BALANCE: $0.00

SHARON L MEYER BALANCE DUE: $29
11528 W COLDSPRING RD FRS FILE NUMBER: 82

-.4- GREENFIELD WI 53228-2501 ON-LINE PIN NUMBER: 496
..mok (Used to access and view your ile on WWW.EIN-REC.COM)

Please be advised that CAVALRY SPV 1, LLC the current creditor-debt purchaser has purchased the account referenced above and it has been placed with our office for collection.

As of the date of this letter, you owe $2980.32.

Please feel free to call us at the toll free number listed below or use our online consumer help desk. FRS now accepts some forms of payment online at www.fin-rec.com. See your
online access pin above.

Unless you notifythis office within 30 days after receiving this notice that you dispute the validity of the debt or any portion thereof', this office will assume this debt is valid. Ifyou
inotify this office n writing within 30 days after receiving this notice that you dispute the validity of this debt or any portion thereof, this office will obtain verification of the debt or

obtain a copy of a judgment and mail you a copyof such judgment or verification. If you request this office in writing within 30 days after receiving this notice, this office will
provide you with the name and address of the original creditor, if different from the current creditor.

Sincerely,ANDREW POULTERER
Account Manager
Toll Free: 1-866-472-0312

This is an attempt to collect a debt. Any information obtained will be used for that purpose.
This communication is from a debt collector.

See reverse side for important information.

Office hours are: Monday-Thursday, 7am to 8pm; Friday 7am to 5pm; Saturday 7am to noon.

**Detach and return this portion ofthis notice with your payinenr"*'''
1 OF 3 2 OF 3 3 OF 3

FRS File #:=782 FRS File tt:=782 FRS File ft: =782
111111111 1111 111111 HI MI Illi liii 1 11111111 1111 M111 III 11111 11111 1111 III 1 11111111 101 111111 III 11111 11111 0111111
1-866-472-0312 1-866-472-0312 1-866-472-0312
Current Balance: $2980.32 Current Balance: $2980.32 Current Balance: $2980.32

Amount enclosed: Amount enclosed: Amount enclosed:

Home phone: Home phone: Homc phone:
Work phone: Work phone: Work phone:
Cell phone: Cell phone: Cell phone:

Financial Recovery Servic_es, Inc. _1•2-e1 irw'1AZ geyry Serces,_Inc -12z .JILRecovery Services, Ine.
P.O. Box 385908 Case 2:17-cv-0094Cii,ba85e(bli ea d7/13/17 Page 2 4.4"Bco'L)901filent 1-1
Minneapolis, MN 55438-5908 Minneapolis, MN 55438-5908 Minneapolis, MN 55438-5908

Letter Code Sent: 062 Letter Code qent: 062 Letter Code Sent: 062



FRS062-0404-852264817-01836-1836

We are required under certain State and Local Laws to notify consumers of those States or Localities of the following rights. This list does
not contain a complete list of the rights consumers have under Federal, State, or Local Laws.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR CALIFORNIA RESIDENTS
The state Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and the federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act require that, except under unusual

circumstances, collectors may not contact you before 8 a.m. or after 9 p.m. They may not harass you by using threats of violence or arrest or by using
obscene language. Collectors may not use false or misleading statements or call you at work if they know or have reason to know that you may not

receive personal calls at work. For the most part, collectors may not tell another person, other than your attorney or spouse, about your debt.
Collectors may contact another person to confirm your location or enforce a judgment. For more information about debt collection activities, you may
contact the Federal Trade Commission at 1-877-FTC-HELP or www.ftc.gov.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR COLORADO RESIDENTS
FOR INFORMATION ABOUT THE COLORADO FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT, SEE WWW.COAG.GOV/CAR

COLORADO OFFICE LOCATION: 27 NORTH WILLERUP, SUITE B, MONTROSE, CO 81401
LOCAL PHONE: 970-249-7514 TOLL-FREE PHONE: 1-866-436-4766

A CONSUMER HAS THE RIGHT TO REQUEST IN WRITING THAT A DEBT COLLECTOR OR COLLECTION AGENCY CEASE FURTHER
COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE CONSUMER. A WRITTEN REQUEST TO CEASE COMMUNICATION WILL NOT PROHIBIT THE DEBT
COLLECTOR OR COLLECTION AGENCY FROM TAKING ANY OTHER ACTION AUTHORIZED BY LAW TO COLLECT THE DEBT.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR MASSACHUSETTS RESIDENTS
If you wish to discuss this matter, please call us direct, between the hours of 8 a.m. and 5 p.m. CST, at the number listed on the front of this notic^
Massachusetts resident office address is: 49 Winter St, Weymouth, MA 02189 with office hours: M-Th 10am-3pm.
NOTICE OF IMPORTANT RIGHTS: YOU HAVE THE RIGHT TO MAKE A WRITTEN OR ORAL REQUEST THAT TELEPHONE CALLS REGARDING
YOUR DEBT NOT BE MADE TO YOU AT YOUR PLACE OF EMPLOYMENT. ANY SUCH ORAL REQUEST WILL BE VALID FOR ONLY TEN DAYS
UNLESS YOU PROVIDE WRITTEN CONFIRMATION OF THE REQUEST POSTMARKED OR DELIVERED WITHIN SEVEN DAYS OF SUCH
REQUEST. YOU MAY TERMINATE THIS REQUEST BY WRITING TO THE DEBT COLLECTOR.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR MINNESOTA RESIDENTS
THIS COLLECTION AGENCY IS LICENSED BY THE MINNESOTA DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR NEW YORK CITY RESIDENTS
This collection agency is licensed by the New York City Department of Consumer Affairs. The license number is 1015506.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR NORTH CAROLINA RESIDENTS
North Carolina Department of Insurance permit number: 3917.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR TENNESSEE RESIDENTS
This collection agency is licensed by the Collection Service Board of the State Department of Commerce and Insurance.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR WISCONSIN RESIDENTS
This collection agency is licensed by the Division of Banking in the Wisconsin Department of Financial Institutions, www.wdfi.org.

NOTICE TO ALL CONSUMERS
Our staff is trained to conduct themselves in a businesslike and professional manner, and to leave you with a positive experience in dealing with our

Company. If you have a complaint, criticism, suggestion, or compliment about the way we are collecting this debt, please write to us at P.O. Box

385908, Minneapolis, MN 55438-5908, email us at compliance@fin-rec.com, submit on-line at www.fin-rec.corn, or call us toll-free at (866) 438-2860
between 9am and 5pm CST Monday-Friday.
Federal Law prohibits certain methods of debt collection, and requires that we treat you fairly. You can stop us from contacting you by writing a letter to

us that tells us to stop contact or that you refuse to pay the debt. Sending such a letter does not make the debt go away if you owe it. Once we receive

your letter, we may not contact you again, except to let you know that there won't be any more contact or that we intend to take a specific action.

When you provide a check as payment, you authorize us either to use information from your check to make a one-time electronic fund transfer from

your account or to process the payment as a check transaction.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
for the 

Eastern District of Wisconsin 

) 

) 

) 

) 
Plaintiff(s) ) 

v. ) Civil Action No. 

) 

) 

) 

) 
Defendant(s) ) 

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION 

To: (Defendant’s name and address) 

A lawsuit has been filed against you. 

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you receive it) – or 60 days if you are 

the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ. P. 

12(a)(2) or (3) – you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or the plaintiff’s attorney, whose 

name and address are: 

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.  

You also must file your answer or motion with the court. 

STEPHEN C. DRIES, CLERK OF COURT 

Date: 
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk 
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FINANCIAL RECOVERY SERVICES, INC.

FINANCIAL RECOVERY SERVICES, INC. 
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Madison, WI 53703 

John D. Blythin 
Ademi & O'Reilly, LLP 
3620 East Layton Avenue 
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Civil Action No.  

PROOF OF SERVICE 

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(l)) 
 

 This summons and the attached complaint for (name of individual and title, if any): 

 
 

were received by me on (date)  . 
 

☐  I personally served the summons and the attached complaint on the individual at (place): 

 
 

 on (date)  ; or 
 

☐  I left the summons and the attached complaint at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name) 

 

 , a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,  
 

on (date)  , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or 
 

☐  I served the summons and the attached complaint on (name of individual)  
 

who is designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)  
 

 on (date)  ; or 
 

☐  I returned the summons unexecuted because  ; or 
 

☐  Other (specify):  
 

 . 
 

My fees are $  for travel and $  for services, for a total of $  
 

 I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true. 

 

 

Date:      

   Server’s signature 

    

 

   Printed name and title 

    

 

 

 

   Server’s address 

 

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc.: 

Case 2:17-cv-00963-JPS   Filed 07/13/17   Page 2 of 2   Document 1-3

17-cv-963

0.00

Print Save As... Reset



ClassAction.org
This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this 
post: Consumer Sues Financial Recovery Services Over ‘Nebulous’ Collection Letter

https://www.classaction.org/news/consumer-sues-financial-recovery-services-over-nebulous-collection-letter
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